FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
9/18/2019 3:18 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/27/2019
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Court of Appeal No. 50847-8-II

97719-4

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLARK COUNTY,
Respondent,

FRIENDS OF CLARK COUNTY; FUTUREWISE,
Respondents

and

CLARK COUNTY; CITY OF RIDGEFIELD; CITY OF LA CENTER;
RDGB ROYAL ESTATE FARMS, LLC; RDGK REST VIEW ESTATES
LLC; RDGM RAWHIDE ESTATES LLC; RDGF RIVER VIEW
ESTATES LLC; RDGS REAL VIEW LLC; and 3B NORTHWEST LLC,
Respondents

and

CLARK COUNTY CITIZENS UNITED, INC.,
Petitioner

v.

GROWTH MANAGEMENT HEARINGS BOARD,
Respondent.

INTRODUCTION

A fundamental component of the Growth Management Act (GMA), chapter 36.70A RCW, is the designation, and review of such designation, of land for long term commercial significance for agricultural and forestry. While there are applicable regulations that apply to the designation of such lands using the suitability of the soil for such purposes, the Court of Appeals has ruled that a County may use other data without ever disclosing what that other data is or how it was used. It is a secret recipe.

The Court of Appeals decision is completely contrary to the GMA's goals of open process and public participation. This Court should grant review because of the fundamental disconnect the Court of Appeals decision encourages by approving the County's failure to identify what information it is using and how it is using it in the face of specific criteria that is supposed to be guiding the decision. As explained below, this Court should grant review.

IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Clark County Citizens United, Inc. (CCCU) was a Petitioner before the proceedings before the Court of Appeals

and before the Growth Management Hearings Board (Board).
CCCU has been an active participant in Clark County land use regulation development, primarily representing the interests of rural landowners.

COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals decision is reported as *Clark County v. Growth Management Hearings Board*, ___ P.3d ___ 2019 WL 3927449 (August 20, 2019) and a copy of the Slip Opinion is attached hereto as Exhibit A and cited as “Slip Op.”

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether, when reviewing the designation of land for long term commercial significance for agriculture or forestry under RCW 36.70A.170(1), a county may comply with regulations requiring the use of specific criteria regarding the productivity of soils by also using other information without disclosing what that information was or how it was used?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Background—Review of County Comprehensive Plan

On June 21, 2016, the Board of County Councilors for Clark County (BOCC) updated its Comprehensive Plan as required by RCW 36.70A.130(1)(a), a provision of the GMA. Administrative Record (AR) 6912.

In this update process, the County reviewed its designation of land for long term commercial timber or agricultural significance, but ultimately did not make changes, except reversing limited designations of agricultural land (referred to as dedesignations) near the cities of Ridgefield and LaCenter to allow those areas to be included within the cities' urban growth area. Slip Op. at 4.

In regard to the review of all other designations of land for agricultural or forestry purposes, CCCU contends that the base line for determining whether land is of long term commercial significance depends on the characteristics of the underlying soils as contemplated by and required by WAC 365-10-050, namely, the soil classifications from the National Resource Conservation Service (NRCS). However, in its review of its designation of agricultural and forest lands for long term commercial significance, the County claimed to use unspecified other "data layers" beyond the soil data as the regulation requires.

Concerned about several issues, CCCU filed a petition for review to Board as did numerous other parties challenging various parts of the amended comprehensive plan. AR 976.

B. Board Decision

On March 23, 2017, the Board issued its Final Decision and Order (FDO) (AR 10,457), which rejected CCCU's claim that the County could not comply with WAC 365-190-050's requirement to use specific soil surveys in designated land for long term commercial significance when using unspecified data in an unspecified manner that somehow justified deviation from the surveyed information. AR 10,511.

C. Court of Appeals Decision

Numerous parties, including CCCU, filed petitions for judicial review in the Clark County Superior Court. The cases were consolidated and direct review was held in the Court of Appeals. On August 20, 2019, the Court of Appeals issued its decision and specifically rejected CCCU's argument regarding the review of agricultural designations by use of undisclosed other data that overwhelmed the official soil capability standards. The Court of Appeals quoted the Board's conclusion:

The County used the NRCS layer and other data; nothing in the WAC precludes them from using other data, as long as they use NRCS data as well.

Slip. Op. at 35 (quoting AR 10510).

However, the Court of Appeals went a step further than just concluding that other data could be used, a point CCCU does not dispute. The Court of Appeals concluded that the County can “say” that it “used” what the regulation and then use additional information which it never has to reveal or explain how it was used.

[A]s long as the County said that it used the soil data required by the regulation, **it does not matter** that it used other data, **that it refuses to disclose what that data was or how it was used.**

Slip Op. at 35 (emphasis added).

This Petition for Review follows.

ARGUMENT

I

THIS PETITION SATISFIES THE REVIEW CRITERIA IN RAP 13.4(b) DUE TO JUDICIAL CONFLICTS AND SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST

The considerations governing acceptance of this Petition are as follows:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) ...
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). This Petition and the Court of Appeals decision satisfy each of the considerations listed above.

A. The process for designating vast amounts of land for long term commercial significance for agricultural and forestry uses has historically been and remains an issue of substantial public interest.

RCW 36.70A.130(1)(a) demands that the County's comprehensive plan be "subject to continuing review and evaluation." Even counties which do not plan under the GMA are still required to periodically review natural resource land, which include agricultural land and forestlands. RCW 36,70A.130(1)(b). The County undertook its required review.

However, its review of agricultural and forestry designations were shrouded in mystery and the issues presented herein relate to that review process. Is the requirement that the County use the NRCS soils data a baseline requirement and can a county use other data to overwhelm the soils data without revealing

what that data is or how it was used? Even though this issue has been percolating in the present case before the Board and the Court of Appeals, the County has steadfastly refused—and continues to refuse—to identify what that other data was or how it was used. AR 4155; 10,511. The crux of the problem is that the review of agricultural and forestry designations were essentially started and concluded behind closed doors, using hidden other “data.”

The Court of Appeals’ outrageous conclusion is that “it does not matter that [the County] used other data, that it refuses to disclose what that data was or how it was used.” Slip Op. at 35. In other words, the County can pay lip service to the prerequisite that soils be sufficient to support long term commercial agriculture or forestry and use any other information it wants to overwhelm the soil data and keep citizens in the dark about the information and method of using it. This cannot be what the Legislature intended.

Making the Court of Appeals’ conclusion even more troubling is the significance of this issue in terms of acreage, impact on people’s livelihoods and the economy of the area. Among the

many goals of the GMA, the designation of land of long term commercial significance for agricultural and forestry is significant because of the sheer numbers of acres involved and the conversely limited number of uses available for such land. The way these designations are created or reviewed is significant, not only for the landowners, but for a weighty segment of the county's economy related to both food supply and building materials.

Additionally, the designation of lands for agriculture or forestry under the GMA has historically been one this Court has considered to be imbued with substantial public interest. *See, e.g., City of Arlington v. Central Puget Sound Growth Management Hearings Bd.*, 164 Wn.2d 768 (2008); *Lewis County v. Western Washington Growth Management Hearings Bd.*, 157 Wn.2d 488 (2006); *King County v. Central Puget Sound Growth Management Hearings Bd.*, 142 Wn.2d 543 (2000); *City of Redmond v. Central Puget Sound Growth Management Hearings Bd.*, 136 Wn.2d 38 (1998).

The processes for such an important decision remain of substantial public interest which calls for review by this Court.

B. Whether the soil data is a minimum requirement for agriculture and forestry land is an issue of substantial public interest.

The GMA requires designation of land with “long-term significance for commercial production” of agricultural products or production of timber and requires regulations that assure the conservation of such lands for commercial production. RCW 36.70A.060(1)(a). The focus of the GMA on such lands is clearly on preserving land for commercial production of resources and a critical requisite is the land so designated must be physically capable of long term commercial production.

This Court recognized this concept.

The GMA says that long-term commercial significance “includes the growing capacity, productivity, and soil composition of the land for long-term commercial production, in consideration with the land's proximity to population areas, and *the possibility of more intense uses of the land.*”

Lewis County, 157 Wn.2d at 500 (quoting RCW 36.70A.030(10) (emphasis in original)).

The Legislature specifically instructed the Department of Commerce to adopt guidelines “to guide the classification” of agricultural lands and forest lands, among others. RCW

36.70A.050. While phrased as “guidelines,” they are not mere tips or suggestions. The GMA requires counties to use those guidelines and they are expressly characterized as the “**minimum** guidelines that apply to all jurisdictions.” RCW 36.70.170(2) (emphasis added).

The regulation itself uses mandatory language.

In determining whether lands are used or capable of being used for agricultural production, counties and cities **shall use** the land-capability classification system of the United States Department of Agriculture Natural Resources Conservation Service [NRCS] as defined in relevant Field Office Technical Guides.

WAC 365-190-050(3)(b)(ii)(emphasis added). The regulation recognizes the NRCS classifications “are based on the growing capacity, productivity and soil composition of the land.” *Id.*

This particular provision captures the essence of the legislative scheme by focusing on the capabilities of land for long term commercial agriculture, rather than whether land is growing vegetation—a characteristic of practically all land in the State. *See Lewis County*, 157 Wn.2d at 501 (that land is “physically suited to farming” does not mean that it “has the enduring commercial quality needed to fit the agricultural land definition”).

Consistent with the mandatory language, some courts have applied the regulation as requiring compliance.

A designation of ARL [Agricultural Resource Lands] under them would still violate the GMA if it failed to meet the minimum guideline of WAC 365–190–050(5),

Concerned Friends of Ferry County v. Ferry County, 191 Wn. App. 803, 834-35 (2015).¹

At issue here, is the undisputed fact that the County reviewed its designation of lands of long term commercial agricultural and forestry production in the process of its update of the comprehensive plan. AR 10511. And, it is undisputed that when CCCU pointed to the requirement that the County

¹ Even if the administrative code sections were not binding, they are at least entitled to deference because the Legislature specifically gave the Department of Commerce the role to flesh out a specific provision of the GMA—determining lands of long term commercial agricultural and forestry significance.

But because the GMA itself directed CTED to develop these regulations, they should receive some deference. *See Green River Community College Dist. 10 v. Higher Educ. Personnel Bd.*, 107 Wn.2d 427, 438, 730 P.2d 653 (1986) (“a heightened degree of deference is appropriate where the agency's construction of a statute is within the agency's field of expertise”).

City of Des Moines v. Puget Sound Regional Council, 98 Wn. App. 23, 31 n. 4 (1999). Determining commercial significance involves expertise of the Commerce Department.

use the NRCS soil classification as required by WAC 365-190-050(3)(b)(ii), the County cryptically responded that it also considered other “data layers” (AR 4155; AR 10511), but never identified what that data was, how it was used or how it could turn soil that is incapable of commercial production of agricultural or forest products into productive land. The Board ruled the County could use unspecified “data layers” other than what is required in WAC 365-190-050(3)(B)(i)”). AR 10,511 (FDO at 54). The Court of Appeals affirmed. Slip Op. at 35.

CCCU does not dispute that other data may be used. For instance, prime farmland soils may not be appropriately designated for long term commercial agricultural production if there is insufficient water available or if the land is too far away from likely markets for agricultural products. But having soil that will support commercial forestry is a starting requirement as recognized by the regulation and the legislature. *See* RCW 36.70A.030(10)

On one occasion, the Board too has recognized that other factors may “cull the size of the potential agricultural resource land universe derived from soil information and yield fewer

acres as appropriate for designation as agricultural resources lands of long-term commercial significance.” *Orton Farms, LLC v. Pierce County*, 2004 WL 3275228 (Wash. Central Puget. Sd. Growth Mgmt. Hrgs. Bd.), at *20. But while other factors may “cull” or reduce land that should be designated for long term commercial significance, there is no logic that can explain how other information could turn land with unsuitable soil into a land of fertility.

The critical problem is the Court of Appeals’ decision that allowed the County to use, not just other data layers, but to use unspecified “data layers,” which it supposedly mixed with the NRCS data without any explanation whatsoever. AR 10,511 (FDO at 54). Neither the Board nor the Court of Appeals required the County to identify what the other data layers were or how they were used with the required soils data. Tellingly, at every stage of this proceeding—before the County, the Board and the Court of Appeals—the County has refused to identify what the other data was, how it was used or why land which does not have the soils necessary to support commercial

agriculture or forest are nonetheless designated for conservation for commercial agriculture or forest uses.

The Court of Appeals' approval of the Board's allowance of resource designations using unknown other "data layers" with completely unknown weight makes WAC 365-190-050(3)(b)(ii)'s requirement to use NRCS soils data essentially meaningless.

This Court should grant review because the method by which counties review the designation of vast amounts of land throughout the state is an issue of substantial public importance.

C. Division Two's decision in this case conflicts with a decision of Division Three and this Court's decisions regarding a requirement in the GMA that a county "show its work" in designating lands for commercial agricultural or forest production.

Division Three of the Court of Appeals has recognized that soil is the primary criterion for evaluating agricultural land designations. *Yakima County v. Eastern Washington Growth Management Hearings Bd.*, 146 Wn. App. 679 (2008). In the present case, Division Two allows any undisclosed information to be used in any way as long as there is a mere recitation that the County used the soil information. Slip Op. at 35.

Even the Boards are in disagreement as to whether the NRCS soils data is an essential criterion.

The Board agrees [with CTED] that soils weigh heavily in the designation of agricultural resource lands. USDA, SCS and NRCS soils information establishes and defines the “potential universe” of lands that could be designated as agricultural resource lands.

Orton Farms, LLC, 2004 WL 3275228 at *20. In the present case, the Board merely required the County to claim to have used the NRCS soils data, but not explain how it used its mysterious other “data layers.” Slip Op. at 35.

Division Three of the Court of Appeals has articulated a rule to be applied in cases where the GMA imposes specific requirements that the County’s written record must explain how compliance was achieved.

A math teacher requires a student to demonstrate the manner in which she arrived at her result in addition to showing the result. This requirement informs the teacher whether the student thoroughly and correctly performed the calculation. The GMA has a similar demand. ... In short, the county should show its work.

Ferry County v. Growth Management Hearings Bd., 184 Wn. App. 685, 735-36 (2014).

Although not using the “show its work” phrase as Division Three, this Court has in the same context of designing

agricultural land required a county to explain how it applied the designation criteria. *Lewis County*, 157 Wn.2d at 503-04 (footnote omitted) (“Lewis County's briefs do not explain the extent to which the county applied the specified factors...the record does not indicate whether the county used permissible criteria in other decisions not explicitly tied to the WAC factors.”)

Other than merely mentioning that some completely undisclosed other “data layers” were used with the required criteria, the County has failed to explain how it arrived at its decision in regard to its review of the designation of agricultural and forestry land. In the present case, Division Two approved the County’s inexplicable use of undisclosed data—completely contrary to principle that the county must “show its work,” especially when applying regulations the Legislature insisted upon in the context of a statutorily required duty.

There is clearly a conflict between divisions of the Court of Appeals and with this Court’s decision in *Lewis County* that should be resolved by this Court.