FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/18/2019 3:42 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 97719-4 Court of Appeals Nos. 50847-8-II and 51745-1-II, Consolidated

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLARK COUNTY,

Respondent,

FRIENDS OF CLARK COUNTY and FUTUREWISE,

Respondents,

and

CLARK COUNTY; CITY OF RIDGEFIELD; CITY OF LA CENTER; RDGB ROYAL ESTATE FARMS, LLC; RDGK REST VIEW ESTATES, LLC; RDGM RAWHIDE ESTATES, LCC; RDGF RIVER VIEW ESTATES, LLC; RDGS REAL VIEW, LLC; and 3B NORTHWEST, LLC,

Respondents,

and

CLARK COUNTY CITIZENS UNITED, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

GROWTH MANAGEMENT HEARINGS BOARD, Respondent.

CLARK COUNTY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

The Supreme Court overturned that ruling.²⁹ The Court unequivocally held that, absent a revision to the governing provisions of GMA itself, the county's unrevised pre-update designations could not be revisited in an appeal of the update, stating:

> We hold a party may challenge a county's failure to revise a comprehensive plan only with respect to those provisions that are directly affected by new or recently amended GMA

²⁵ Thurston County v. WWGMHB, 164 Wn.2d 329, 190 P.3d 38 (2008).

²⁶ Thurston County v. WWGMHB, 137 Wn. App. 781, 796–97, 154 P.3d 959 (2007), reversed in part, Thurston County v. WWGMHB, 164 Wn.2d 329, 190 P.3d 38 (2008).

²⁷ Compare ESSB 6427, Ch. 285, Laws of 2006, 59th Leg., Regular Sess. (2006) with currently effective RCW 36.70A.130(1) (text of statute unchanged).

²⁸ Thurston County v. WWGMHB, 137 Wn. App. 781, supra.

²⁹ Thurston County v. WWGMHB, 164 Wn.2d 329, 190 P.3d 38 (2008).

provisions, meaning those provisions related to mandatory elements of a comprehensive plan that have been adopted or substantively amended since the previous comprehensive plan was adopted or updated, following a seven year update.^[30] This rule provides a means to ensure a comprehensive plan complies with recent GMA amendments, recognizes the original plan was legally deemed compliant with the GMA, and preserves some degree of finality.³¹

In other words, the requirement to "review and update" existing plan designations set forth in RCW 36.70A.130 does not mean that a county must start anew to analyze and revise the designations, unless the provisions of GMA that govern designation have changed.³² CCCU has not argued that relevant provisions of GMA have been amended.

The Board ruled in 2014 that Clark County's Comprehensive Growth Management Plan, which then designated for resource use every parcel of land still designated after the 2016 plan update, complied with GMA.³³ This Court has held that such a ruling on compliance is conclusive as to the legality of the plan to that date.³⁴ Absent a requirement that a county take a particular action in its periodic plan update, a petitioner may seek review only as to issues stated in detail in a petition for review filed within 60 days of publication of notice of the

³⁰ Currently, the statute requires eight-year updates. RCW 36.70A.130(5)(b).

³¹ Thurston County v. WWGMHB, 164 Wn.2d at 344.

³² Id.

³³Karpinski v. Clark County, GMHBWWR Case No. 07-2-0027c, Order Finding Compliance and Closing Case (September 4, 2014).

³⁴ Thurston County, supra, at 164 Wn.2d at 345.

actions taken in the plan update.³⁵ CCCU did not timely appeal the Board's 2014 order finding compliance, or the Board's 2006 order finding compliance, and cannot now assert that those orders were wrong.

In the 2016 plan update, Clark County analyzed the designations of lands in areas related to proposed de-designations, as required by WAC 365-190-050(1).³⁶ The County argued before the Board that it had conducted area-wide processes in de-designating the lands that were subsequently annexed by Ridgefield and La Center, and those that became rural industrial land banks, but the Board rejected those arguments.³⁷

The issues concerning the designation revisions that did occur may soon be resolved. The Court of Appeals ruled that the Ridgefield and La Center de-designations are moot, and that the Board lacked jurisdiction to consider issues related to the annexed lands.³⁸ Those issues concerning designation are, thus, resolved, and CCCU did not participate in their litigation. The remaining question concerns the de-designated agricultural resource lands on which the rural industrial land bank was located.³⁹ No other review of resource lands designations occurred in the 2016 update.

³⁵ RCW 36.70A.280-290, Appendix B; *Skagit Surveyors and Engineers, LLC v. Friends of Skagit County*, 135 Wn.2d 542, 958 P.2d 962 (1998).

³⁶ Slip op. at 34-36, Appendix A.

³⁷ AR 10552-553.

³⁸ CCCU v. Clark County, supra, Slip op. at 18-24. CCCU has raised no challenge regarding the de-designations.

³⁹ *Id.* at 25. CCCU did not argue this as an issue at any level.

CCCU appears to argue that Clark County's Issue Paper 9 was such a review, but its position is incorrect. Issue Paper 9 presented a consultant's updated research on rural lands, with the stated purpose of analyzing whether to adopt density revisions for lands outside urban areas.⁴⁰ In the context of density analysis, Issue Paper 9 does set forth NRCS soils data and descriptive information relevant to the other criteria for designation of both agricultural and forest resource lands.⁴¹

Issue Paper 9 did not analyze whether the designations were correct or should change, however, and it did not purport to reach a conclusion on those subjects, because that was not its purpose.⁴² It was not adopted, either to support, or as part of, an amendment to the comprehensive plan's resource lands designations. Finally, evidence before the Board showed that the public had an opportunity for input on Issue Paper 9. The Board consequently ruled that CCCU's arguments concerning Issue Paper 9 did not prove that the 2016 plan update was clearly erroneous under GMA.⁴³

B. The Court of Appeals Properly Declined to Find That the Board Decision Was Arbitrary and Capricious.

|||||

⁴² AR 1049-83.

⁴⁰ AR 1051.

⁴¹ AR 1068-70; 1074-75.

⁴³ FDO at 54, AR 10510.

The Board denied the County's motion for summary judgment to

dismiss CCCU's Issue 12 because the issue textually "invoked GMA

planning goals and requirements."44 As a petitioner to the Board,

however, CCCU had the burden of demonstrating that the 2016 plan

update was "clearly erroneous" in failing to comply with GMA, as alleged

in its issues. Following briefing and a hearing on the merits, the FDO

rejected CCCU's claims on this issue, concluding as follows:

CCCU has not made clear arguments about which sections of RCW 36.70A [the County fails to comply with], but CCCU *** states their claim is based on WAC 365-190-050 and -060. In Issue 10 above, the Board explained process requirements for WAC 365-190-040 (overall process) and for WAC 365-190-050 (agricultural lands). In Issue 12, CCCU raised complaints that the County used data in addition to the NRCS data layer, the latter required in WAC 365-190-050(3)(B)(ii). The County used the NRCS layer and other data; nothing in the WAC precludes them from using other data, as long as they use NRCS data as well. CCCU's claim about data layers is dismissed.

Next, CCCU argues the new resource land zones do not have as much development density as CCCU would like and that their proposal for more density was not adopted by the County. Nothing in the GMA or its implementing regulations requires the County to adopt a specific proposal by individuals or associations of individuals. The GMA gives the County broad discretion to adopt policies, plans and regulations that meet GMA requirements. Finally, CCCU's claim the County did not give the public sufficient time to review the Issue Paper 9 is not a GMA violation. *** The Board finds and concludes that CCCU has failed

⁴⁴ Order Denying Motions to Dismiss Issues, at 9-10. Available at: http://www.gmhb.wa.gov/Global/RenderPDF?source=casedocument&id=5329.

to prove the County violated WAC 365-190-050 or .060. Issue 12 is dismissed.⁴⁵ (Footnotes omitted; emphasis in original omitted.)

Before the Court of Appeals, CCCU argued that the Board's decision on Issue 12 was arbitrary and capricious. To prevail on that claim, CCCU bore the burden of demonstrating that the decision represented willful and unreasoning action, taken without regard to or consideration of the facts and circumstances surrounding the action.⁴⁶ As the quoted conclusion above demonstrates, the Board's decision on this issue (Issue 12) was not arbitrary and capricious, as the Court of Appeals correctly held.

CCCU contends in its petition for review that WAC 365-190-050 – 060 required the County to use soils data of the federal Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS) in designating resource lands.⁴⁷ WAC 365-190-050(3) provides three factors for counties considering lands for designation as agricultural resource lands, one of which requires use of NRCS soils classifications.⁴⁸ The third factor is split into eleven additional factors, which are explicitly non-exclusive.⁴⁹ Criteria for

⁴⁵ FDO at 54, AR 10510.

⁴⁶ City of Redmond v. Cent. Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hr'gs Bd., 136 Wn.2d 38, 46-47, 959 P.2d 1091 (1998)).

⁴⁷ Petition at 3.

⁴⁸ WAC 365-190-050(3)(b)(ii), Appendix B.

⁴⁹ WAC 365-190-050(3)(c), Appendix B.

designating forest lands also set forth many factors beyond soils.⁵⁰

CCCU concedes both that Clark County has used NRCS soils data and that, in designating resource lands, the County is permitted to use other information.⁵¹ The essence of CCCU's claim is that in the County's review of resource lands, NRCS soils data were "overwhelmed" by "data layers" provided by Clark County's Geographic Information Service, and that the County did not disclose the information set forth in the data layers.⁵² The Court of Appeals rightly noted, however, that CCCU did not point to any land designations by the County that were different from those that would have resulted from analysis limited to NRCS soils data.⁵³

The Board held that use of other data did not violate GMA, as long as NRCS soils classification data were used, and found that the County had used both NRCS data and other data.⁵⁴ The Court of Appeals affirmed the Board's decision.⁵⁵ Both decisions are consistent with the plain language of WAC 365-190-050 and -060, which mandate the use of NRCS data and permit counties to consider other information, some of which is unspecified, in their resource lands designations.⁵⁶

⁵⁰ WAC 365-190-060, Appendix B.

⁵¹ Petition at 11-12.

⁵² Petition at 4.

⁵³ Slip op. at 36, note 19, Appendix A.

⁵⁴ FDO at 54, AR 10510.

⁵⁵ Slip op. at 34-36, Appendix A.

⁵⁶ Appendix B.

CCCU contends that the Board and the Court of Appeals both erred in their rejections of CCCU's issues faulting the County's resource lands designations. CCCU reasons that the designation of "vast amounts of land" for commercial resource use is a matter of substantial public interest, and so errors regarding resource designations should be taken up by this Court.⁵⁷ CCCU bolsters its argument by providing a quotation, which it attributes to page 35 of the Court of Appeals slip opinion:

[A]s long as the County said that it used the soil data required by the regulation, it does not matter that it used other date, that it refuses to disclose what that data was or how it was used.⁵⁸

The Court of Appeals did not make that statement, however, either

on page 35 of the slip opinion or anywhere else in its opinion.⁵⁹ CCCU

further discusses the errors it contends that the Board and the Court of

Appeals made in failing to require the County to explain "data layers."

The petition has the following description of the Court of Appeals' error:

The Court of Appeals' outrageous conclusion is that "it does not matter that [the County] used other data, that it refuses to disclose what that data was or how it was used." Slip op. at $35.^{60}$

Again, this statement cannot be found in the Court of Appeals opinion.

Outrageous or not, if it had been the Court of Appeals' actual conclusion,

⁵⁷ Petition at 6.

⁵⁸ Petition at 5 (emphasis in original CCCU Petition).

⁵⁹ Appendix A.

⁶⁰ Petition at 7.

it is a fabrication, and it cannot support CCCU's position that there is a substantial public interest in the Court's acceptance of review. CCCU has not shown that the Court of Appeals decision erred in any way.

Finally, CCCU cites four seminal decisions of the Supreme Court as support for the unremarkable notion that the Court has considered the designations of agriculture and forest resource lands under GMA as "imbued with substantial public interest."⁶¹ The Court does not, and should not accept review of every decision of the Court of Appeals relating to resource lands designation. This petition, in which CCCU misstates the facts, the applicable law, and the content of a valid Court of Appeals decision, is not a petition that the Court should accept for review.

C. The Court of Appeals Correctly Found That Clark County Considered NRCS Soils Classifications, and No Substantial Public Interest Suggests That the Court Should Accept Review of That Decision.

CCCU concedes both that Clark County has used NRCS soils data and that the County is permitted to use other information in designating resource lands.⁶² The Board found the facts were that the County had considered NRCS soils classes and other data, and that WAC 365-190-

⁶¹ *Id.* at 8.

 $^{^{62}}$ *Id.* at 12.

050 and -060 permitted these considerations.⁶³ The Board concluded that CCCU had not met its burden to prove that the County's actions had been clearly erroneous under GMA.⁶⁴ CCCU responded by seeking an appellate ruling that the Board's decision had been arbitrary and capricious.⁶⁵ The Court of Appeals echoed the Board's findings and conclusion that the County had considered NRCS soils classes and other data, that WAC 365-190-050(3)(b) does not preclude such consideration, and that CCCU had not proven that the Board erred by making an arbitrary and capricious ruling.⁶⁶

The petition complains, regarding use of other data, that the County "never identified what that data was, how it was used or how it could turn soil that is incapable of commercial production of agricultural or forest products into productive land."⁶⁷ But the petition, like CCCU's arguments before the Board and the Court of Appeals, fails to point out one parcel of Clark County land incapable of commercial agricultural or forest production that the 2016 plan update *misdesignated* or *designated at all* because the County used data in addition to NRCS soils classification

⁶³ AR 10511. ("The County used the NRCS layer and other data; nothing in the WAC precludes them from using other data as long as they use NRCS data as well.")

⁶⁴ *Id.* The clearly erroneous standard states the burden of a petitioner to the Board. FDO at 5, AR 10461.

⁶⁵ Slip op. at 34-35, Appendix A.

⁶⁶ Slip op. at 34-36, Appendix A.

⁶⁷ Petition at 12.

data.⁶⁸ The petition concludes that the Court of Appeals' decision makes the requirements of WAC 365-190-050(3)(b)(ii) "essentially meaningless."⁶⁹ But even CCCU agrees that the County considered NRCS data, which, as the Court of Appeals held, is what the rule requires.

The petition argues that a correct decision of the Court of Appeals should be reviewed by the Court. Its argument is based upon misreading the facts, law, and the Court of Appeals decision itself. No consideration of the public interest would support the Court's acceptance of this petition, and the Court should reject it.

D. The Court of Appeals Decision Raises No Conflicts with Other Decisions of the Court of Appeals and Supreme Court Requiring a County to Show its Work in Designating Resource Lands.

The petition cites a decision of this Court and two decisions of the Court of Appeals in attempting to manufacture conflicts with this decision of the Court of Appeals. The attempt fails, because none of the cited appellate decisions examined actions analogous to Clark County's actions in its 2016 plan update. The previous sections of this answer have argued a review of the County's actions, pursuant to RCW 36.70A.130, is not equivalent to the review of actions taken when the County initially designated all its unincorporated lands. By the terms of the periodic

⁶⁸ AR 10511.

⁶⁹ Petition at 14.

review statute, the County was not required to revise the designations of its lands, and for the most part, it made no such revisions in 2016.⁷⁰

All of the cases CCCU cites in support of its inconsistency arguments concern actual revision to comprehensive plan designations. In *Yakima County v. E. Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hrgs. Bd.*, the dispute concerned the de-designation of more than 1,000 acres of agricultural lands.⁷¹ Compliance with criteria for a revision of that magnitude understandably involved analysis beyond that for a decision to make no change to pre-existing, GMA-compliant designations.

Ferry County v. Growth Mgmt. Hrgs. Bd. addressed a years-long dispute over initial designation of critical areas.⁷² Ferry County amended its ordinance several times, and the legislature authorized rule-making to define "best available science" for critical areas designation.⁷³

Lewis County v. W. Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hrgs. Bd., involved the initial designation of agricultural resource lands.⁷⁴ The "work," required to be shown in *Lewis County* was the work needed to support first-time

⁷⁰ CCCU did not timely appeal to the Board or the Court of Appeals regarding the de-designations and cannot object to them now. RCW 36.70A.290(2), Appendix B.

⁷¹146 Wn. App. 679, 684, 192 P.3d 12, 15 (2008).

⁷² 184 Wn. App. 685, 229 P.3d 478 (2014).

⁷³ Ferry County, supra, 184 Wn. App. at 733.

⁷⁴ 157 Wn.2d 488, 139 P.3d 1096 (2006).

GMA comprehensive plan designations.⁷⁵ It is not an inconsistency among appellate decisions that the work in *Lewis County* was different from the work required in this case, to not make any revision at all.

Each of the decisions named by the petition as conflicting with the *Clark County* decision of the Court of Appeals is merely distinguishable from *Clark County*. The issues are different, the applicable law is different, and if the results are different, that is not a reason for the Court to accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b). Review should be denied.

VI. CONCLUSION

The petition fails to establish that the Supreme Court should accept review of the Court of Appeals decision based upon the considerations set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Clark County respectfully requests that the Court deny review.